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Lena Agle, age 2½, died of diphtheria on October 9, 1893. Just one week 
earlier, Dr. William Taylor had reported her illness to the Columbia 
Board of Health—a newly formed agency within the government 
of Columbia borough. Lena was just one of 153 cases of diphtheria 
recorded in the log of “Infectious and Contagious Diseases” between 
September 1893 and December 1894. The Borough of Columbia kept 
this written record, the “Ledger,” from the start of the diphtheria 
outbreak until September 1905 (Infectious and Contagious). The same 
volume also contains records of births and deaths in Columbia from 
1893 to 1900. This book, stored at the Lancaster County Archives 
and also available on microfilm, provides valuable insight into the 
relationship between government, public health, medical personnel, 
medical institutions, and society from the end of the nineteenth century 
and into the beginning of the twentieth century. 

Introduction

The new Columbia Hospital opened on Thanksgiving day, 1903. It was located at 7th and 
Poplar Streets in Columbia.
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The Ledger



Diphtheria
In September 1893 the newly appointed Columbia Board of Health 
had to address a major epidemic of diphtheria that lasted until the 
end of 1894. During that sixteen-month period, there were 153 cases 
of diphtheria and thirty-six deaths—a mortality rate of twenty-four 
percent. This outbreak occurred just as diphtheria antitoxin was first 
put to use in Germany, but before it would have been available in 
the United States. The outbreak peaked in November 1893 when Mr. 
Bockius, secretary of the Board of Health, reported forty-seven new 
cases and fourteen deaths. 

Diphtheria was a disease of children. The average age of all cases was 
eight and one-half years, and the average age of the fatalities was four 
and eight-tenths years. Only five adults contracted the illness, and all 
were women—Priscilla Gemperling, thirty-eight; Sarah Miltenberger, 
twenty-one; Sarah Roland, forty; Annie Supples, thirty-three; and Anna 
Alexander, thirty-five—who had children who were also ill. None of 
their husbands were reported to have contracted the illness. 

Mulford’s 
Improved 
Antitoxin Syringe, 
ca. 1897

The H. K. Mulford 
Company in 
Philadelphia became 
part of  Sharpe & 
Dohme.

This syringe was 
found in an antique 
shop which has since 
closed. The current 
whereabouts are 
unknown. It was 
photographed with 
permission.


